
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, May 5, 2025 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements 
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
 Regular Meeting and Work Session held April 21, 2025 

 

8. Proclamation: Water Professional’s Week, May 4 – 10, 2025 

9. Proclamation: 56th Annual Professional Municipal Clerk’s Week, May 4 – 10, 2025 
 

BUSINESS 
 

10. VAR-C2500107:  Steve Eiberger with Hardeman Communities Inc. has requested a variance from 
the standards of an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) at 210 Timber Ridge (parcel 083 026 
189). Specifically, they seek to reduce the front yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. Public Hearing 
Date:  City Council on Monday, April 21, 2025.  City Council for a decision on May 5, 2025. 
 

11. Ordinance No. 02-2025: An Ordinance To Amend The Alcohol Code Of The City Of Dawsonville So 
As To Provide For Consumption Of Alcoholic Beverages Around The Dawsonville Municipal Complex 

Building; To Provide For Severability; And For Other Purposes.  First Reading: May 5, 2025; Second 

Reading and Consideration to Adopt: May 19, 2025. 
 

12. Request Fee Waiver and Road Closure: Bicycle Ride Across Georgia (BRAG), June 3-5, 2025 

 
13. Ordinance No. 03-2025: An Ordinance To Amend The Ethics Code Of The City Of Dawsonville So 

As To Provide For The Qualification Of Members To The Ethics Board; To Provide For Severability; 
And For Other Purposes.  First Reading: May 5, 2025; Second Reading and Consideration to Adopt: 

May 19, 2025. 
 

 

 
 

 

  MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 

     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED: Pending or Potential Litigation, Real Estate Acquisition and/or Personnel 
 

     RESERVED FOR POTENTIAL ACTION ON EXECUTIVE SESSION ITEMS, IF NEEDED 
 

     ADJOURNMENT 
  

 
The next regularly scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, May 19, 2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk at 
Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE: 05/05/2025 
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 

   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  

 
a. Approve Minutes  

 Regular Meeting AND Work Session held April 21, 2025 

 
 

 
 

 

 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 
 

 REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD APRIL 21, 2025 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      

 

 

 



MINUTES
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, April 21, 2025

5:00 P.M.

Page 1 of 4

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Walden called the meeting to order at 5:11 pm.

2. ROLL CALL: Councilmember William Illg, Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Sandy 
Sawyer, Councilmember Mark French, City Attorney Kevin Tallant, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk 
Beverly Banister, Assistant City Manager Jacob Evans, Public Works Director Trampas Hansard, 
Utility Director Jacob Barr, Finance Director Robin Gazaway, Zoning Administrative Assistant Stacy 
Harris and Planner from CPL Sarah McQuade

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE: Invocation and pledge were led by Councilmember Illg.

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  Mayor Walden announced the Farmer’s Market opening day is this Saturday, 
April 26, 2025 and the first Food Truck Friday will be on May 9, 2025 beginning at 5:00 p.m.  He also 
reported the Dawson County High School baseball team has made the playoffs and wishes them 
luck.  Lastly, he appreciated the residents and Councilmember Illg and French who attended his 
public forum, Chat with the Mayor.  He invited the public to come out for another forum he is holding 
on July 8, 2025 and October 14, 2025. Councilmember Illg and French both commented on the value 
of holding the forum and their appreciation to be a part of it. 

Councilmember French stated there is an item on the agenda concerning Gold Creek Drive and he 
wanted to state for the record that his employer does live on Gold Creek Drive along with 
approximately 165 other homeowners.  

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by M. French;
second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  Ben Trail, 3898 War Hill Park Road, Dawsonville – He apologized for not being 
present at the public hearing on 04/07/2025 concerning ANX-C2500099.  The Council asked what 
the reason is for wanting to annex into the City; he stated the County needed five acres to develop 
two homes on the property and the property is only three acres.  He inquired of the Mayor if it was 
conceivable to do it within the City and he stated the Mayor responded it was.  

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a-b) made by 
C. Phillips; second by S. Sawyer. Vote carried unanimously in favor.

a. Approve Minutes 
Regular Meeting held April 7, 2025

b. Approve Resolution No. R2025-01: Amendment to the 2023 Comprehensive Plan (Exhibit “A”)

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: City Manager Bolz introduced the City’s newest employee Chase 
Bennett who is working in Public Works.  The Mayor and Council presented the March 2025 Employee 
of the Month and the Winter Employee of the Quarter award to David Schuette. Service awards were 
given to Caleb Reece for one year of service; Kenneth Smith for one year of service; Tracy Smith for 
eight years of service; Blake Croft for nine years of service and Trampas Hansard for seventeen years 
of service.  

9. PROCLAMATION: ADMINISTRATIVE PROFESSIONALS DAY, APRIL 23, 2025:  Mayor Walden 
read the proclamation. 

PUBLIC HEARING

10. VAR-C2500107:  Steve Eiberger with Hardeman Communities Inc. has requested a variance from 
the standards of an approved Planned Unit Development (PUD) at 210 Timber Ridge (parcel 083 026 
189). Specifically, they seek to reduce the front yard setback from 20 feet to 16 feet. Public Hearing 
Date:  City Council on Monday, April 21, 2025

Sarah McQuade from CPL read the variance request and stated the staff is recommending denial 
based on not all of the hardship criteria being met.  Motion to open the public hearing made by M. 
French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  Mayor Walden conducted the public 
hearing.  



MINUTES
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, April 21, 2025

5:00 P.M.

Page 2 of 4

The following person spoke in favor of the request:

JoAnne Jackson, 480 Brookstone Trail, Dawsonville – She stated she is in favor of the 
variance because she would like to see the same style of homes with similar square 
footage as represented within the entire community.  She is concerned her house 
value could be minimized if a different and smaller home is built which is not in unison 
with the community. She asked the Council to consider approving the variance and 
believes it will benefit the community. 

      The following person spoke against the request:

Logan Samples, 235 Timber Ridge, Dawsonville – He stated he believes his property 
values will be affected by placing a home on a lot where it should not be.  He had to 
pay a premium for his cul-de-sac lot and stated he was told by a representative from 
Hardeman Communities that they would have to discount the lots that need a variance 
to build on which supports his thoughts on diminished property values. He further 
stated if the variance is granted, this property would end up having no front yard, no 
back yard and the driveway would be shorter which encourages parking on the street 
and then becomes a safety issue.  He also noted a similar lot has a home built on it 
that has been for sale several months and he would be concerned the same issue 
could arise if this home is built with the variance and again feels it would contribute to 
lower property values if the builders would have to lower the price in order to sell the 
home or it would sit vacant.  Lastly, he is concerned if the variance was approved, it 
could start a trend and the overall feel of the City would change. 

Motion to close the public hearing made by S. Sawyer; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.  

Mayor Walden stated the Council will make their decision at the May 5, 2025 City Council meeting.  
Attorney Tallant said because the decision has the force and affect of law regarding this property the 
Council cannot vote on it the first time it is presented to them. 

Councilmember Illg asked what is the required minimum square footage of the homes; Ms. McQuade 
stated they would have to meet the minimum square footage of 1,200 square feet.  Discussion 
occurred regarding the square footage of the homes in the community.  

BUSINESS

11. ANX-C2500099: Trail & Son, LLC on behalf of Matthew Turner has petitioned to annex into the city 

limits of Dawsonville the 2.90 acre tract known as TMP 092 042, Located at Perimeter Road, with a 
County zoning of RA (Residential Exurban / Agricultural) to City zoning R-1 (Restricted Single-Family 

Residential District). Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on Monday, March 10, 2025, and 

City Council on Monday, April 7, 2025. City Council for a decision on Monday, April 21, 2025.  

Stacy Harris read the annexation request.  Councilmember Illg asked if it was possible to put two 

homes on the property; Ms. Harris stated yes.  

Motion to approve the annexation as presented made by W. Illg; second by C. Phillips.  

Councilmember French asked if this is an island; Ms. Harris stated no.  Vote carried unanimously in 

favor.  (Exhibit “B”)

12. CONSIDERATION TO GRANT A SEWER EASEMENT:  Motion to approve the sewer easement 
contingent upon EPD approval made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in 
favor.  (Exhibit “C”)

13. REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER: GEORGIA MOUNTAIN REGIONAL COMMISSION 
(PAVILION/FARMER’S MARKET RENTAL):  Motion to approve a fee waiver in the amount of $225 
for the use of the Farmer’s Market by GMRC on Wednesday, June 25, 2025 made by M. French; 
second by S. Sawyer.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  



MINUTES
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, April 21, 2025

5:00 P.M.

Page 3 of 4

14. REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER: DISTRICT 2 PUBLIC HEALTH (FARMER’S MARKET RENTAL):  
Motion to approve a fee waiver in the amount of $225 for the use of the Farmer’s Market by District 2 
Public Health on July 16, 2025 made by M. French; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried unanimously in 
favor.  

15. REQUEST FOR FEE WAIVER: DAWSON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS (BUILDING 
PERMIT FEE):  Motion to approve a partial fee waiver in the amount of $6,418.30 (this does not 
include the fees associated with plan review) for building permit #C2500113 for the DCBOC and third 
party building inspections are required made by M. French; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor. 

WORK SESSION

16. ORDINANCE AMENDMENT OPTIONS FOR THE ETHICS BOARD: Attorney Tallant reviewed 
some of the highlights for each option.  Mayor and Council discussed the three options provided to 
consider an amendment to the ethics board ordinance.  They will report their choice to Attorney Tallant 
by Monday, April 28, 2025 to move forward with the ordinance amendment for a first reading on May 
5, 2025.

17. GOLD CREEK DRIVE: Public Works Director Hansard reported the approximate cost to widen 1,300 
feet of Gold Creek Drive is $275,000.00. Councilmember Phillips stated it was the safety issue that 
initially seemed to be of concern and suggested meeting with the HOA representatives and Mr. 
Hansard to determine which option they would want to address the safety issue.  Councilmember 
Phillips said he does not support the City spending the money to widen the road but would consider 
helping with the safety concerns to either realign or move the curb. Councilmember French agrees 
now that we have more information, he believes it would be in the best interest of the residents to 
meet with the HOA representatives to determine their preference. He also stated he wants to be 
certain this doesn’t happen again.  A short discussion occurred regarding other developments and 
their roads. Councilmember Phillips reiterated his desire to assist with the safety issue but not to 
widen the road and believes realigning the curb at the top would be the best option. 

STAFF REPORTS

18. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANANGER:  He reported the leak adjustment total is $52.28. Councilmember 
Sawyer appreciated being contacted by the utilities department to alert her of a leak at her home and 
she also reported there is an app residents can use to view their usage down to the hour. 

19. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Financial reports were provided to represent fund 
balances and activity through March 31, 2025.  
  

        MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS:  

Councilmember Illg stated he is excited to know the DDA will be supporting two concerts this year.  
Councilmember French stated it was reported at the Board of Health meeting that they are reviewing 
plans from McDonald’s for the old Bojangles building but no dates have been reported.  Mayor Walden 
invited the public to attend his next public forum on July 8, 2025.  He also asked if the HOAs could 
provide their contact information to be on a mailing list for the City.  

ADJOURNMENT

At 6:06 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by S. Sawyer; second by W. Illg.  Vote carried 
unanimously in favor.

Approved this 5th day of May 2025

By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE



MINUTES
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor
Monday, April 21, 2025

5:00 P.M.

Page 4 of 4

___________________________________
John Walden, Mayor

___________________________________
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1

William Illg, Councilmember Post 2

Sandra Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3

___________________________________
Mark French, Councilmember Post 4

      Attest:

      _________________________       

      Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "B"



Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "C"



Exhibit "C"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATION: WATER PROFESSIONAL’S WEEK, MAY 4-10, 2025 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

     
TO READ THE WATER PROFESSIONAL’S WEEK PROCLAMATION 
 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8     

 

 

 



Proclamation
Water Professionals

Appreciation Week

May 4 – May 10, 2025

WHEREAS, water and wastewater infrastructure, facilities and services are of vital 
importance to sustainable communities and to the health, safety, and well-being of the 
people of the City of Dawsonville, and

WHEREAS, water professionals are committed to operating these facilities to 
maintain consistent compliance with extremely stringent standards and such facilities and 
services could not be provided without the dedicated efforts of water professionals who are 
responsible to operate and maintain the water supply and water treatment facilities essential 
to serve our citizens, and

WHEREAS, both publicly and privately-owned facilities have performed so well 
that they are no longer the most significant threat to Georgia’s waters and the quality of 
Georgia’s waters has improved dramatically throughout this great state over the 50 plus 
years since the original passage of the Georgia Water Quality Control Act.   

WHEREAS, it is in the public interest for the citizens, civic leaders and children in 
the United States of America to gain knowledge of and to maintain a progressive interest 
and understand the importance of water and wastewater operations in their respective 
communities, and

NOW THEREFORE, I, John Walden, Mayor of the City of Dawsonville, do 
proclaim May 4 – May 10, 2025, as 

WATER PROFESSIONALS APPRECIATION WEEK

a special week of recognition for men and women who work tirelessly in our City to ensure 
our water resources are protected and properly managed.  Therefore, we want to recognize 
and thank the staff and management of the City of Dawsonville’s water department.

Dated this 5th day of May 2025.

_____________________________
John Walden, Mayor

Attest:

_____________________________
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATION: 56TH ANNUAL PROFESSIONAL MUNICIPAL CLERK’S WEEK, 

MAY 4-10, 2025 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025 
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

     
TO READ THE 56TH ANNUAL PROFESSIONAL MUNICIPAL CLERK’S WEEK PROCLAMATION 
 

 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

     
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   9     

 

 

 



Proclamation
55th Annual Professional

Municipal Clerks Week

May 5 – May 11, 2024                                                                                        

WHEREAS, the Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk, a time honored and vital 
part of local government exists throughout the world, and

WHEREAS, the Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk is the oldest among 
public servants, and

WHEREAS, the Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk provides the 
professional link between the citizens, the local governing bodies and agencies of 
government at other levels, and

WHEREAS, Professional Municipal Clerks have pledged to be ever mindful of their 
neutrality and impartiality, rendering equal service to all.

WHEREAS, the Professional Municipal Clerk serves as the information center on 
functions of local government and community.

WHEREAS, Professional Municipal Clerks continually strive to improve the 
administration of the affairs of the Office of the Municipal Clerk through participation in 
education programs, seminars, workshops and the annual meetings of their state, province, 
county and international professional organizations.

WHEREAS, it is most appropriate that we recognize the accomplishments of the 
Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk.

NOW THEREFORE, I, John Walden, Mayor of the City of Dawsonville, do 
proclaim May 5 - May 11, 2024, as 

PROFESSIONAL MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK

and further extend appreciation to our Professional Municipal City Clerk, Beverly Banister
and Deputy City Clerk, Tracy Smith and to all Municipal Clerks for the vital services they 
perform and their exemplary dedication to the communities they represent.

Dated this 6th day of May, 2024.

_______________________________     
John Walden, Mayor

Attest:

_______________________________
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT: VAR-C2500107 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:    DECISION 
 

VAR-C2500107: STEVE EIBERGER WITH HARDEMAN COMMUNITIES INC. HAS REQUESTED A 
VARIANCE FROM THE STANDARDS OF AN APPROVED PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 
AT 210 TIMBER RIDGE (PARCEL # 083 026 189). SPECIFICALLY, THEY SEEK TO REDUCE THE 
FRONT YARD SETBACK FROM 20 FEET TO 16 FEET. PUBLIC HEARING DATE: CITY COUNCIL 
ON MONDAY, APRIL 21, 2025 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 ZA-C8-00199 CREEKSTONE PHASE 2 AMENDMENT SITE PLAN APPROVED 

10/22/2018  

 87 SINGLE – FAMILY RESIDENCES 

 27 TOWN HOMES  

 PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 

 FINAL PLAT APPROVED SETBACKS APPROVED: 
 20 FT FRONT 
 20 FT REAR 
 5 FT SIDE  

 
 

     OPTIONS:  
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: CPL, Planning & Zoning Department 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   10     

 

 

 



1 

 

 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 

Planning Staff Report 

 

Variance Request 
 

 

 

 

APPLICANT  ................................................................Steve Eiberger, Hardeman Communities Inc. 
 

CASE NUMBER ...........................................................VAR - C2500107 
 

REQUEST ....................................................................Vary the standards of an approved Planned Unit 

Development (PUD) to reduce the front yard setback from 

20 feet to 16 feet. 
 

CURRENT ZONING DESIGNATION .............................PUD: Planned Unit Development 
 

SITE AREA ...................................................................+/- 0.17 acres 
 

LOCATION ..................................................................210 Timber Ridge 
 

TAX MAP PARCEL ......................................................083 026 189 
 

CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARING DATE ......................Monday, April 21, 2025  
 

APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
 

The applicant has requested to vary from the standards of an approved PUD: Planned Unit Development. 

Specifically, the applicant proposes the reduction of the minimum front-yard setback for a single-family 

residential parcel from 20 feet to 16 feet to construct one residence on the site. 

SURROUNDING PROPERTIES  

Direction from the Site Existing Zoning Existing Land Use 

North PUD Single-family Residential  

South PUD Vacant  

East PUD Single-family Residential  

West PUD Single-family Residential  

 

SUMMARY 

 

The subject 0.17-acre parcel is currently vacant and located in a developing residential subdivision. The final plat 

for the subject development, Creekstone Subdivision Phase II, was recorded on August 30, 2022. The City Council 

approved the Creekstone assemblage for rezoning to PUD: Planned Unit Development in 2018. Phase II is 

approved for the construction of 87 single-family residences on 44.22 acres, resulting in an overall density of 

1.97 dwelling units per acre. As part of this approved PUD, minimum building setbacks were established for each 



  

2 
 

lot; 20 feet for the front and rear yards and 5 feet for the side yards. The subject parcel, identified as lot 64, 

fronts the cul-de-sac of Timber Ridge. 

 

In the submittal, the applicant indicates that “due to the shape, size and topography of lot 64 requires [sic] 

moving the house 4 [feet] forward. Therefore, the setback would be 16 [feet] rather than 20 [feet].” If this 

request is granted, the applicant intends to construct a single-family residence with an attached two-car garage. 

Staff estimate the building footprint to be approximately 1,380 square feet upon completion. It is unclear based 

on the application whether the residence will have a second story, a basement level, or neither. 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
 

Pursuant to the 2023 Dawsonville Comprehensive Plan, the subject parcel is within the Mixed-Use Character 

Area.  

“The Mixed-Use area is reserved for mixed use developments that will foster and support neighborhood 

and sub-regional scale commercial and public activity centers. Development at the major intersection 

and leading southward towards Central Dawsonville should exhibit a village form and scale that includes 

a mix of uses within the same block and/or building, small block sizes with marginal frontage parking and 

prominent pedestrian amenities that provide access throughout the area. Ancillary development outside 

the public and commercial aspects of the village center should provide some housing in a traditional 

neighborhood or middle-to-high density scale to support the village and minimize local automotive 

traffic. Additional housing can be provided on a more suburban scale or as part of a specialized 

development, but pedestrian connectivity is encouraged throughout these areas and roadways must 

minimize the use of cul-de-sacs and dead-end routes. Further, such developments are encouraged to 

pursue conservation design applications for environmental protection and to ease the transition 

between village densities and rural Dawson County.” 

Permissible land use types are Commercial, Mixed-use, and Multi-family. 

Note: Creekstone Subdivision was officially platted for the construction of 87 detached single-family 

residences in 2022. 

 

ANALYSIS 

Sec. 907 – Variances, conditional uses and map amendments. 

Subsection I. Purpose. The purpose of a variance is to provide relief when a strict application of the district 

requirements would impose unusual practical difficulties or unnecessary physical hardships on the applicant. 

Practical difficulties and unnecessary hardships may result from the size, shape, or dimensions of a site or the 

location of existing structures thereon; from geographic, topographic, or other conditions on the site or in the 

immediate vicinity. No variance shall be granted to allow the use of property for a purpose not authorized within 

the district in which the proposed use would be located. A variance should be granted only after evidence is 

presented and accepted that enforcement of all of the required standards on the property in question would 

render the property useless. This article establishes conditions; criteria for granting variances; public hearings 

on proposed variances; variances to road requirements; variance procedures; compliance with conditions of 

approval; vested interest in approved variances; investigations and reports; revocation; limitations on re-

applications; and use variance. A variance may be granted, upon specific findings that all of the following 

conditions exist. The absence of any one of the conditions shall be grounds for denial of the application 

for variance. 



  

3 
 

 

(Language in bold is from the City of Dawsonville Zoning Ordinance. Bulleted information that is not bolded are 

factors known to staff that may apply to the Ordinance criteria.) 

1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of property in 

question because of its size, shape or topography that are not applicable to other land or structures in 

the same district; and, 

· The subject site is similar in size and topography to neighboring parcels; however, it has a 

different shape due to its location fronting a cul-de-sac. 

i. Most neighboring lots are rectangular, but the subject lot is trapezoidal, limiting the 

buildable area available at the southern part of the lot; this is the area closest to the cul-

de-sac bulb. 

ii. This lot shape is not exceptional; it’s very common of cul-de-sac lots. 
 

2. A literal interpretation of the provisions of these zoning regulations would create an unnecessary 

hardship and would deprive the applicant of rights commonly enjoyed by other property owners 

within the district in which the property is located; and, 

· Staff do not anticipate that a literal interpretation of the standards of the approved PUD: Planned 

Unit Development, and the minimum building setbacks adopted therein, would create 

unnecessary hardship for the applicant. 

i. The applicant could construct a single-family house, in accordance with the adopted 

minimum building setbacks, by reducing the proposed building footprint and maximizing 

the area that is not contained within building setbacks. 
 

3. Granting the variance requested will not confer upon the property of the applicant any special 

privileges that are denied to other properties of the district in which the applicant's property is 

located; and, 

· If the City Council finds that exceptional conditions exist upon the subject lot, granting the 

requested variance would not confer any special privileges.  
 

4. Relief, if granted, will be in harmony with the purpose and intent of these regulations and will not be 

injurious to the neighborhood or general welfare in such a manner as will interfere with or discourage 

the appropriate development and use of adjacent land and buildings or unreasonably affect their 

value; and, 

· If the requested variance from the approved PUD: Planned Unit Development is approved, 

reducing the minimum front building setback from 20 feet to 16 feet, staff do not anticipate any 

negative effects upon adjacent land or buildings. 
 

5. The special circumstances are not the result of the actions of the applicant; and, 

· The circumstances which substantiated this variance request are the direct result of the 

applicant. 

i. Hardeman Communities platted the subject lot, which was approved for recordation in 

2022, with the rest of Creekstone Subdivision Phase II. The subject site remains the same 

shape and size it was at the time of platting. 
 



  

4 
 

6. The variance requested is the minimum variance that will make possible the legal use of the land, 

building, or structure; and, 

· The variance requested is the minimum variance that will make possible the legal use of the land. 
 

7. The variance is a request to permit a use of land, building or structures which is permitted by right in 

the district involved. 

· If the subject variance is granted, all uses of the land will conform to the standards of the 

approved PUD: Planned Unit Development. 
 

Subsection II.C Basis for approval. No variance may be granted under this paragraph for an application for 

a variance that has been heard by the planning commission within one year or if the application is for the 

expansion of a non-conforming use or structure. The following criteria shall be considered by the planning 

commission (or City Council) before granting a variance under this paragraph: 
 

(Language in bold is from the City of Dawsonville Zoning Ordinance. Bulleted information that is not bolded are 

factors known to staff that may apply to the Ordinance criteria.) 

1. The variance neither interferes with the rights of others as provided in this chapter nor is injurious to 

the public health, safety, general welfare; 

· Staff do not anticipate that granting the subject variance would be detrimental to the rights, 

health, or welfare of others or the general public.  
 

2. A strict interpretation and enforcement of the standards or requirement would result in practical 

difficulty or unnecessary hardship; 

· A strict enforcement of the minimum 20-foot front yard setback, adopted as part of the approved 

PUD: Planned Unit Development, would be unlikely to result in unnecessary hardship. 
 

3. Exceptional or extraordinary circumstances applicable to the subject property exist that do not 

generally apply to other properties in the same district; 

· There are no exceptional or extraordinary circumstances applicable to the subject site in the 

context of the greater development. 
 

4. The variance provides for reasonable use under the specified circumstances of each application; 

· If the variance request is granted, the applicant intends to construct a single-family residence 

with a front yard setback of 16 feet. 
 

5. The variance achieves the general intent of this ordinance; 

· The development that would occur from granting the variance would achieve the general intent 

of the ordinance. 

· However, the resulting single-family residence would be located closer to the internal road than 

most other residences in the development. The intent of the subject PUD: Planned Unit 

Development has been to provide a 20-foot front yard setback. 
 

6. The variance is the minimum possible variance under the specific circumstances; and 

· Pursuant to the house location exhibit submitted to supplement this variance request, the 

requested variance is the minimum possible in this circumstance. 



  

5 
 

 

7. The variance does not exceed the scope of the authority set forth in subsection (A) hereof. 

· The requested variance from the minimum front yard setback, adopted as part of the approved 

PUD: Planned Unit Development, represents a 20% decrease. Therefore, the request does not 

exceed the scope of authority as established in Sec. 907.II.A.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends denial of the request to vary the front building setback of the approved PUD: Planned Unit 

Development from 20 feet to 16 feet, per the requirements of Sec. 907.I. Pursuant to this Subsection, conditions 

1, 2, and 5 are not satisfied; these are grounds for denial of the variance request. 

  



  

6 
 

 

HOUSE LOCATION EXHIBIT  

 

  



  

7 
 

 

AERIAL IMAGERY  

 

  
 

Note: the boundaries of the subject site are approximated in red on the map above. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 02-2025 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   
 

   FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 02-2025 
     

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ALCOHOL CODE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE SO AS TO 
PROVIDE FOR CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES AROUND THE DAWSONVILLE 
MUNICIPAL COMPLEX BUILDING; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES    
 

FIRST READING: MAY 5, 2025 
 

SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: MAY 19, 2025. 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 

   
 
   

     OPTIONS: 
 
 

 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   11     

 

 

 



Page 1 of 3

ORDINANCE NO. 02-2025

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ALCOHOL CODE OF THE CITY OF 

DAWSONVILLE SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR CONSUMPTION OF ALCOHOLIC 

BEVERAGES AROUND THE DAWSONVILLE MUNICIPAL COMPLEX BUILDING;

TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

WHEREAS, the State of Georgia grants to local governments the ability to significantly regulate 
the purchase, sale, and consumption of alcoholic beverages within the jurisdictional limits of the 
local government’s territory; and

WHEREAS, the City of Dawsonville has an interest in promoting the success of local businesses 
in such manners as may support the business while still promoting the general welfare of the City 
of Dawsonville; and

WHEREAS, at present, the code of the City of Dawsonville restricts the sale of alcoholic beverages 
in such a way that various enterprises which are all part of the same complex are not able to 
promote cross-customer traffic and commerce as effectively as possible;

WHEREAS, an amended ordinance may promote foot traffic and engagement between the 
museum, a business which manufactures and sells historically related alcohol, and a restaurant
located in the Dawsonville Municipal Complex Building; and

WHEREAS, businesses located inside the Dawsonville Municipal Complex Building may enjoy 
greater sales without creating any harm to the general welfare of the City of Dawsonville; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to promote locally owned businesses, specifically those 
located in the Dawsonville Municipal Complex Building; and

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to update its Alcohol Code in a manner consistent with the 
City charter, state law, and other ordinances of the City of Dawsonville.

NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE HEREBY 
ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.

Section 3-111 of the Code of the City of Dawsonville is hereby deleted in its entirety, and is 
replaced by a new, Section 3-111, which shall now read as follows:

Subject Matter: Alcohol – Municipal Complex
Date of First Reading: May 5, 2025

Date of Second Reading: May 19, 2025

Date of Adoption: __________________ 

Effective Date: __________________



Page 2 of 3

(a) The city finds that its town center district is contemplated as the central commercial 
and entertainment center of the city where ample parking, infrastructure, an 
amphitheater, nearby residential uses, etc. are present to allow the sale and open 
container consumption of alcohol that may not be appropriate in other areas in the 
city. The city believes that this regulation will further the vitality of this area and 
attract additional businesses where the location in other areas may be harmful or 
detrimental. The city further finds that this advances a legitimate end of government 
and such regulations are reasonably related to these goals.  To that end, the 
consumption of alcohol in the town center district shall be governed as follows: 

i. In event the city sponsors an event in the town center district and the city 
council specifically approves sale and open container consumption during the 
event, entities that are licensed/permitted for retail sales of alcohol for on-
premises consumption within the town center district and/or permitted by the 
city for retail sales of alcohol at a city sponsored event in the town center 
district may sell alcoholic beverages that can be carried about and consumed 
within the town center district or such smaller area with the town center 
district as may be designated by the city council.

ii. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
in Section 3-112, at the Dawsonville Municipal Complex Building individuals 
may possess and consume alcoholic beverages purchased from a vendor 
authorized to make sales within the Dawsonville Municipal Complex Building 
within the permanently fenced in area and up to a distance of not more than 10 
feet of the building itself.

. 

SECTION 2.

All Ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 3. 

This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption, the public good demanding the same.

SO ADOPTED AND ORDAINED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of ________________, 2025.

(Signatures on following page)



Page 3 of 3

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY 

COUNCIL

By:
John Walden, Mayor

Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1

William Illg, Councilmember Post 2

Sandy Sawyer, Councilmember Post 3

Mark French, Councilmember Post 4

ATTESTED TO BY:

Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk



                                           
 

 

     SUBJECT: Fee Waiver and Road Closure for BRAG (Bicycle Racing Across Georgia) Event – June 3, 4, 5 
 

     DATE(s):        05/05/2025      WORK SESSION                          ________      CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
  
 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #_______________________________________ 

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:  
 
To consider waiving fees for Farmer’s Market and three pavilions in Main Street Park for BRAG event at a cost 
of: $2,125.  
 
Closure or portion of Main Street that travel through Main Street Park on June 3 and 4th.  
 
Consider alcohol in and around Main Street Park. 
 
Consider RV parking behind GRHOF (between Gordon Pirkle Room and Main Street Park) 
 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES 
 
 
 
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
Staff recommends approval of fee waiver and closure of Main Street as described.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
     DEPARTMENT:  ____________________________________________________________ 

 
     REQUESTED BY: _______Jacob Evans, Assistant City Manager ______________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #___12________ 

 

 

 



BRAG Briefing 
Overview: 

 Who is BRAG: The Bicycle Ride Across Georgia (BRAG) is a not-for-profit organization 
that has provided affordable, high-quality bicycle tours throughout Georgia since 1980. 
BRAG is the second oldest across-state bicycle tour in the United States and attracts 
1,000–2,000 riders annually from across the globe. Riders experience Georgia’s diverse 
landscapes and the hospitality of its communities, making it a celebrated event for both 
participants and host towns.  

 What does BRAG do: This event, known as "Big BRAG," is a week-long cycling tour 
covering roughly 400 miles across Georgia, with daily rides averaging about 55 miles. 
There is typically a mid-week rest day, and routes change each year to showcase different 
regions and towns. For 2025, the mid-week rest day is in our very own Dawsonville, GA.  

 Support and Activities: BRAG provides full support for riders, including SAG (Support 
and Gear) vehicles and well-stocked rest stops every 10–18 miles. The event is designed 
for riders of all skill levels and is focused on enjoyment, safety, and camaraderie rather 
than competition 

 Community Engagement: After each day’s ride, BRAG organizes evening activities such 
as concerts, festivals, trivia, yoga, and social gatherings, fostering a festive atmosphere 
and encouraging interaction between cyclists and local residents. BRAG is known for 
highlighting the unique character and hospitality of each host town. This is an 
opportunity for Dawsonville to showcase its attractions, culture, and community spirit to 
a diverse group of visitors. Local organizations and residents often get involved as 
volunteers, hosts, or event partners.  

 Economic and Social Impact: BRAG’s events bring together cyclists, volunteers, and 
local businesses, creating opportunities for community engagement and economic 
activity in host towns. With 1,000–2,000 cyclists plus support staff and some family 
members, Dawsonville can expect a significant influx of visitors who will utilize local 
hotels, restaurants, shops, and services. The average rider spends $75 per day on BRAG.  

 Long-Term Benefits: Hosting a major stop on BRAG enhances Dawsonville’s reputation 
as an active, vibrant community and can inspire local interest in cycling and outdoor 
recreation. Plus, positive experiences for BRAG participants can lead to repeat visits and 
word-of-mouth promotion for Dawsonville as a cycling-friendly and welcoming 
destination. 

Schedule: 

 May 31st – Overnight in Rome 

 June 1st - Rome to Cartersville (48.8 miles) 

 June 2nd – Cartersville to Jasper (44.7 miles) 

 June 3rd – Jasper to Dawsonville (51.1 miles) 

 June 4th – Midweek rest day in Dawsonville 

 June 5th – Dawsonville to Clarkesville (54.3 miles) 

 June 6th – Clarkesville to Toccoa (58 miles) 

 June 7th – Toccoa to Hartwell (56.2 miles) 

 Mass starts at 7am each travel day.  
Events in Dawsonville 

 Main Street Park will be utilized as a gathering/entertainment area for this event.  



 Tuesday June 3rd – Movie in the Park paid for by DC Chamber 

 Wednesday June 4th – Concert in the Park paid for by DC Chamber 
What BRAG brings: 

 On-site food and drink 

 Bicycle rentals and cycle Tech support 

 BRAG luggage service and shuttle services 

 Registration and event supplies 

 Mobile shower trucks and Porta-Potties 

 Supplies for massages 

 BRAG bar 

 Snooze Boxes: A mobile hotel experience 

 Outdoor and indoor camping – including Tent Services by Padre’s 

 Educational Bicycle classes 

 Live Music and Entertainment 

 RVs – if riders choose so. Parking in Junior High parking lot.  

 Layover day trips to Amicalola Falls, AMP, GRHOF, outlet mall, and other attractions 

 And more 
Where they sleep: 

 Riders and non-riders have the choice of several sleeping options: 
o Nearby hotels 
o Snooze Boxes 
o Outdoor and indoor camping including the farmer’s market 
o Tent services 

 For Dawsonville 
o Dawson County Junior High will be for indoor camping 
o Dawson County Junior High football field and the Farmer’s market will be for 

outdoor camping and tent services 
Possible Action Steps: 

 Road closures in and around Main Street Park  

 Consider alcohol in City Center, City Hall, Farmer’s Market, and Main Street Park 

 Waive pavilion fee for the Farmer’s Market and possibly pavilions in MSP 

 Communicate to business about event so the community and businesses are well prepared 

 RV parking is located behind GRHOF.  
A Team Effort: 

 Dawson Chamber of Commerce – Lead agency 

 City of Dawsonville: hosting, planning, and facilitating  

 Dawson County 

 Dawson County Sheriff's Office – handling traffic related escort/safety issues 

 Board of Education – allowed to “camp” on the gym floor and football field at the DCJH  

 Nicole with Dawson County Junior High  
Possible Costs Incurred For The City 

 Overtime for staff (before, during, and after event) 

 Supplies used (toilet tissue, trash bags, trash around event, etc.) 





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   ORDINANCE NO. 03-2025 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  05/05/2025  
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 

 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST:   
 

   FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 03-2025 
     
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ETHICS CODE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE SO AS TO 

PROVIDE FOR THE QUALIFICATION OF MEMBERS TO THE ETHICS BOARD; TO PROVIDE 

FOR SEVERABILITY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
 

FIRST READING: MAY 5, 2025 
 

SECOND READING AND CONSIDERATION TO ADOPT: MAY 19, 2025. 
 
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
 
 

   
 
   

     OPTIONS: 
 
 

 
    RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
     REQUESTED BY: Kevin Tallant, City Attorney 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   13     

 

 

 



Page 1 of 3

First Reading: _________

Second Reading: _________

ORDINANCE NO. 03-2025

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE ETHICS CODE OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR THE QUALIFICATION OF MEMBERS TO THE ETHICS 

BOARD; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES.

WHEREAS, an Ethics Board is a proper part of the ethics ordinance process, in that an Ethics 
Board provides for due process to make certain that ethics complaints against officials are well 
founded, and offers protection during the consideration of ethics complaints; and

WHEREAS, a diverse Ethics Board, in terms of geographical location within the City of 
Dawsonville, may promote a broader representation of views on matters which come before the 
Ethics Board; and

WHEREAS, a diverse Ethics Board, in terms of geographical location within the City, may reduce 
the circumstances in which members of the Ethics Board would have to recuse themselves in such 
numbers as to render the Board unable to fulfill its functions if called upon;

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to update its Code of Ethics in a manner consistent with the 
City charter, state law, and other ordinances of the City of Dawsonville.

NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE HEREBY 
ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.

Section 2-81 of the Code of the City of Dawsonville is hereby deleted in its entirety, and in its 
place is adopted the following, which shall be a new Section 2-81 of the Code of the City of 
Dawsonville upon its passage:

(a) The ethics board shall consist of five persons. All members shall be residents of the City. 
One member shall be appointed by the Mayor, and each city council member shall appoint 
someone from his or her district post to fill out the remaining four spots.  All appointed 
members shall be subject to approval by the City Council, which approval shall be 
unanimous.  In the event unanimity is not obtained for a particular appointee, the person 
who appointed the person not unanimously approved shall bring forth another name for the 
Council to consider.

(b) Once per year the ethics board shall convene to select among its members a chairperson 
who shall preside at any meetings and who shall only vote in case of a tie among the 
remaining members on any particular issue.  The members shall also select a vice-



Page 2 of 3

chairperson to preside in the absence or conflict of the chairperson.  When the vice-
chairperson is presiding he or she is limited to voting only in case of a tie.

(c) Vacancies shall be filled by following the same process which led to the selection of the
person vacating a position on the ethics board with a portion of an unexpired term 
remaining.

(d) All members shall serve two-year terms. The foregoing notwithstanding, the appointed 
members of the Mayor, City Council Post 1, and City Council Post 3, shall serve three-
year terms starting in 2025 so as to stagger the terms of the members of the ethics board. 
Thereafter, with the succeeding appointments in calendar year 2028, all members shall 
serve two year terms.

(e) Members of the ethics board with any permit or rezoning application pending before the
City, or with any pending or potential litigation against the City or the city official charged 
in a complaint, shall recuse from serving on the ethics board for that complaint. 

(f) Members of the ethics board may be removed by majority vote of the City Council.
(g) For the purpose of reviewing a complaint, conducting a hearing, and taking action under

Section 2-84, the ethics board shall have the right to engage an attorney who is an active
member of the Bar of the State of Georgia in good standing to assist the ethics board.
However, no such attorney shall be a member of the ethics board at the time he or she is
engaged, and they shall not be considered to be a member of the ethics board for the
purpose of making any decisions. The role of the attorney for the ethics board shall be to
conduct investigatory activities requested by the ethics board, make reports and
recommendations to the ethics board, and to represent the ethics board in any actions
commenced by the ethics board.  The City shall be responsible for the fee charged by Ethics 
Board counsel.

SECTION 2.

All Ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby repealed.

SECTION 3. 

This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption, the public good demanding the same.

SO ADOPTED AND ORDAINED by the City Council of Dawsonville, Georgia, this _____ day 
of ________________, 2025.

MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY 

COUNCIL

By:
John Walden, Mayor



Page 3 of 3

Caleb Phillips, Council Member Post 1

William Illg, Council Member Post 2

Sandy Sawyer, Council Member Post 3

Mark French, Council Member Post 4

ATTESTED TO BY:

Beverly Banister, City Clerk


	7



